IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 74,797 CASE NO.: 74,835 CASE NO.: 74,863 UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI, Petitioner/Defendant, -VS-

0 /1 9.6.90

ADAM BOGORFF, a minor, by and through his father and next friend, ROBERT BOGORFF, and ROBERT BOGORFF, individually,

Respondents/Plaintiffs.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT (CASE NO. 86-2550 AND 86-2911)

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

A. Blackwell Stieglits, Esq.
Steven E. Stark, Esq.
FOWLER, WHITE, BURNETT, HURLEY, BANICK & STRICKROOT, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioner
Eleventh Floor, CourtHouse Center
175 Northwest First Avenue
Miami, Florida 33128-1817
Telephone: (305) 358-6550

### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arises from incidents of alleged malpractice occurring during care provided by Dr. Kjell Koch, a member of the faculty of the University of Miami. Dr. Koch was treating Adam Bogorff for acute undifferentiated Leukemiawhichhadbeen diagnosed in 1970. (R 449-464).

Adam Bogorff's illness was diagnosed in Connecticut in 1970 and following treatment there was in remission. (R 450). In June, 1970, the Bogorffs moved to South Florida and Adam came under the medical care of Paul Winick, M.D., a pediatrician in Hollywood, Florida. (R 807). At that time, the family was also referred to Dr. Koch, a member of the faculty of the University of Miami. (R 450, 804).

In July and August of 1971, Adam Bogorff received central nervous system (CNS) radiation under the direction of Dr. Koch (R 450). In June, 1971 and January, 1972, Dr. Koch administered four doses of intrathecal Methotrexate to Adam Bogorff. (R 450). The Bogorffs allege that the administration of this therapy was inappropriate, fell below the applicable standards for treatment of Adam's illness, and resulted in his injury. (449-464).

Subsequent to the intrathecal administration of Methotrexate, Adam Bogorff developed symptoms of lethargy and inattention, loss

- 2 -

of hair and appetite, headaches, nausea and vomiting. In January of 1972 he developed more serious symptoms that included symptoms of fever, headache, lethargy, exhaustion, vomiting, frustration, slurred speech and jerking movements. (R 563-574A, Exhibits B and C). In April 1972, he suffered convulsions and lapsed into a coma. Although later radiation and chemotherapy treatments succeeded in rousing the child from his comatose condition he never regained his former state **ofhealthandneverrecoveredhisspeechormotorskills**. By July 1972, Adam Bogorffs condition deteriorated further and he became paralyzed and unresponsive.

a

a

а

In May, 1973, Dr. Winick, Adam Bogorff's pediatrician, wrote a letter to Dr. Koch, which was discovered in his medical records, stating in pertinent part:

> Adam has remained exactly the same over the past three months . . . Whether this whole business is secondary to Methotrexate is difficult to ascertain. (R 166).

Dr. Charyulu, the radiologist in charge of Adam Bogorff's radiation therapy wrote in 1973 to Dr. Winick stating in pertinent part regarding Adam Bogorff's condition that:

It seems to indicate that there may be some distant or remote connection with Methotrexate toxicity. (R 563-574A Exhibit H).

The neurology consultation of Dr. Robert F. Cullen, Jr., M.D., dated May 8, 1975, a copy of which was sent to Dr. Winick Adam Bogorff's pediatrician, states in pertinent part regarding Adam's condition:

> He seems to have some type of peculiar encephalopathy, either related to his leukemia, radiation, or perhaps related to a folic acid

> > - 3 -

deficiency accompanying the use of Methotrexate. (R 563-574A Exhibit I).

In January 1977, Dr. Winick, Adam Bogorff's pediatrician, advised the University of Connecticuttumor registry that Adam's braindamage was secondary to the administration of intrathecal Methotrexate and radiation treatment. (R 563-574A Exhibit J). On June 17, 1977 Dr. Winick wrote a letter regarding Adam's condition, discovered in his medical records, stating in pertinent part:

> At this point his condition remains status quo. He seems to have some type of encephalopathy, which is related to either his leukemia or more likely to radiation or perhaps related to a **folic** acid deficiency. (R 563-574A Exhibit K).

On July 18, 1977, Dr. Paul Zee at St. Jude's Hospital wrote a letter to Dr. Winick, the pediatrician, with a copy to Dr. Cullen, the neurologist, regarding Adam Bogorff's condition following an examination and consultation which stated in pertinent part:

> <u>Impression</u>: 1) Encephalopathy with irreversible anatomical changes possibly secondary to radiation and intrathecal Methotrexate. (R 563-574A Exhibit).

On February 21, 1979, Dr. Winick, wrote to the State of Florida Health and Rehabilitative Services Office of Disability Determinations, stating in pertinent part:

> Adam Bogorff has a diagnosis of diffuse demyelinating encephalopathy, <u>secondarvto a drug therapy</u> which he had for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Adam developed his illness during 1972 ... (R 563-574A Exhibit M).

On March 3, 1979, the State of Florida Department of Health and rehabilitative Services wrote a letter to Dr. Winick which confirmed a telephone conversation with him and stated in pertinent part:

- 4 -

Patient has leukemia, in remission and <u>due to</u> <u>drug therapy had resulting encephalopathy</u> (R563-574A Exhibit N). (emphasis supplied).

In their response to a Request for Production filed in the Bogorff's legal malpractice claim against the firm of Cohen and Cohen, the Bogorffs state that they had two medical articles in October of 1979 which they insist they sent to their attorneys and received back from them when the representation was turned down. (R 563-574A Exhibit O). One of the articles is entitled "Encephalopathy in Acute Leukemia Associated With Methotrexate Therapy," and states in pertinent part:

> The condition appears to be due to methot rexate. (R 563-574A Exhibit P).

Robert Bogorff stated under oath in an affidavit signed on September 11, 1984 that:

I was not aware that any problem existed in the care and treatment of Adam's leukemia until I discovered in 1982 with my wife a letter from St. Jude's Hospital dated July 18, 1977 whereby the drug Methotrexate was the possible cause of Adam's brain damage. (R 563-574A Exhibit B) (Dr. Zee's letter).

Thelma Bogorff, Adam's mother, stated under oath in an affidavit

signed September 11, 1984:

That in February 1982 I obtained some of the records of Dr. Paul Winick, Adam's pediatrician, and discovered that a letter to Dr. Winick from St. Jude's center incriminated methotrexate and radiation as the cause of Adam's brain damage (R 563-574A Exhibit C) (Dr. Zee's letter).

The Bogorffs have alleged that through fraud and concealment or intentional misrepresentation, Dr. Koch prevented them from discovering the true cause of Adam's injury and that they did not discover the cause until 1982. (R 451). In support thereof, the Bogorffs concede in their Brief that Mr. Bogorff found the previously referred to article entitled "Encephalopathy in Acute Leukemia Associated With Methotrexate Therapy" in a medical journal. (R 563-574A Exhibit P), and that he brought it to Dr. Koch in the summer of 1972. Mr. Bogorff testified that Dr. Koch threw it in the trash can and stated that the article bore no relation to Adam's condition. (R 771-772). Thelma Bogorff concedes, however, that she cannot recall whether she discussed the possibility of Methotrexate having some relationship to Adam's condition which he developed in 1972 with Dr. Winick. (R 835) (Thelma Bogorff's deposition, page 39).

Mrs. Bogorff never examined Dr. Winick's file prior to 1982, never examined Dr. Cullen's file prior to 1982 and never examined the contents of Dr. Koch's file prior to 1982. (R 909). Indeed, the Bogorffs did not prior to 1982 request the University of Miami to give them copies of Adam's medical chart. (R 788, 888).

# IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Assuming, as the Bogorffs' allegedand the Third District agreed, the 1971 four-year statute of limitations applies to this cause of action, the suit herein is deemed to accrue, at the latest, in July 1972 when the injury was discovered. Accordingly, the complaint, which was filed in December 1982, is barred by the application of this four-year statute of limitations. This is regardless of the Bogorffs' assertion that they were unaware of any relationship between Adam Bogorff's Methotrexate and radiation therapy and his brain damage until February 1982 or their assertion that the facts were concealed

- 6 -

from them by Dr. Koch, since there was, nor could there be, any concealment of this patent injury.

In addition, the Bogorffs are deemed to have constructive knowledge of the contents of Adam Bogorff's medical records. After reviewing these records, it is clear that the Bogorffs have imputed notice of not only the injury but also the alleged cause of the injury in 1973, 1975, and culminating with the July 19, 1977 letter written to Dr. Winick, which the Bogorffs admit notified them of the their cause of action when they read it in 1982. If such letter is sufficient notice of the cause of action in 1982, it is sufficient notice in 1977 and the complaint filed in December 1982 is barred by the statute of limitations.

With respect to any alleged fraudulent concealment, neither the University of Miami nor any other defendants concealed either the facts of the child's injury or its cause. Indeed, neither the University nor Dr. Koch were obligated to inform the parents of any possible or evenlikelycausesof their child's condition, onlythose causes they knew, or through efficient diagnosis should have known, were the actual cause of the condition. Where the connection between the Methotrexate and the child's condition was unclear at best, there was no obligation to further provide any information to the family.

In addition, even assuming that any concealment or misrepresentation did occur, it was not successful concealment because the Bogorffs had available to them, at all times, medical records which clearly revealed that which they claim was concealed. Pursuant to this Court's <u>Nardone</u> decision, such information is imputed to the plaintiff, and

- 7 -

their failure to act diligently in reviewing said records or pursuing a cause of action is fatal to their claim.

If one assumes correctly, that the statute of limitations began to run when the Bogorffs acquired knowledge of his son's injury, then the two-year statute of limitations applicable subsequent to July 1, 1972 or the later amendments thereto in 1974 and 1975 apply to this cause of action and bar it, at the latest, over one year before suit was filed in this case. The Bogorffs were charged with knowledge of their son's injury and/or a cause of action arising therefrom in 1972, 1973, 1975, 1977, and at the latest in 1979 when they consulted an attorney regarding a potential malpractice claim.

Finally, the statute of repose is dispositive. The Bogorffs have repeatedly stated that intrathecal Methotrexate and radiation therapy ended in **1971** and **1972**. Assuming that there was no concealment, the action would be time barred at the latest in **1976**. On the other hand, even assuming concealment and misrepresentation, the action would still be time barred at the latest in **1979**, over three years before suit was filed in this case. The Bogorffs had sufficient time within which to file suit after the **1975** statute of reposewas enacted and this Court has determined that reasonable time to sue is all that is required for a statute of repose to apply. Accordingly, the instant complaint, which was filed a full 10 years after the allegedly negligent treatment, is barred by the statute of repose.

The trial court correctly entered Summary Final Judgment for the University of Miami and the Third District Court of Appeal's

– a –

decision that reversed this ruling must be quashed with instructions to enter an Order affirming the summary judgment entered in the trial court.

# V. ISSUES ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ENTERING FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI AND WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT'S REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING WAS ERROR.

### VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ENTERING FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI AND THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT'S REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING WAS ERROR

## A. <u>Introduction</u>

This action is before this Court on discretionary review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal that reversed a Final Summary Judgment entered in favor of the defendants based on the applicable statute of limitation and/or repose. Although the trial court did not make specific factual and legal findings in support of its order(R.974), it is clear that the Court of Appeal found that §95.11(4), Florida Statutes (1971), which provided a four-year statute of limitations, was applicable and that pursuant to this Court's Nardone decision there were material questions of fact which precluded summary judgment on the statute of limitations issue. Judge Jorgenson's dissent also applied the 1971 four-year statute of limitations but after analyzing this Court's Nardone decision and its progeny came to the opposite conclusion with respect to the statute

of limitations. The issue before this Court is whether a claim that arose out of alleged incidents of malpractice in late **1971** and early **1972**, but for which suit was not brought until December **1982**, is barred by the provisions of Chapter **95**, Florida Statutes. It is the University's position herein that regardless of whether this Court applies the four-year limitations period that was in effect until July **1972**; the two-year limitations period that followed; or the four/seven-year statute of repose that became effective in May **1975**, the action is time bared as a matter of law. The appellate court applied the **1971** version of the statute of limitations and relied upon <u>Nardone</u> and, therefore, the four year limitation will be addressed first. The applicability of the two-year statute of limitations and the statute of repose, which were rejected by the Court of Appeal, will be addressed in later sections of the brief.

a

а

a

а

а

# B. §95.11(4), Florida Statutes and Nardone

# 1. <u>Pre-Nardone Decisions</u>

From 1943 through July 1, 1972, there was no specific statute of limitations for medical malpractice actions. Rather, the applicable statute of limitations was the four-year statute of limitations applicable to actions not otherwise covered under Chapter 95, Florida Statutes. Nevertheless, in applying this statute to medical malpractice actions, the Florida Courts formulated particular rules with respect to medical malpractice actions.

<u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, **70 So.2d 306** (Fla. **1954**) was an action arising out of an overdose of x-ray therapy on the plaintiff's left heel in April **1944**. The injury first manifested in May, **1949** and

- 10 -

suit was filed on May 11, 1950. The trial court denied the defendant's motion for directed verdict based on the statute of limitations.

In analyzing the statute of limitation issue, this Court noted:

At the time of the application of the x-ray treatment there was nothing to put the plaintiff on notice of any probable or even possible injury. The general rule, of course, is that where an injury, although slight, is sustained in consequence of the wrongful act of another, and the law affords a remedy therefor, the statute of limitations attaches at once.

Id. at 308. This Court noted that there was a distinction between notice of a negligent act and notice of its consequences. It further **notedthatthestatuteattacheswhentherehasbeennotice** of invasion of the legal right of the plaintiff or he has been on notice of his right to a cause of action. However, this Court affirmed the trial court's ruling, stating:

> In the instant case, at the time of the x-ray treatment there was nothing to indicate any injury or put the plaintiff on notice of such, or that there had been an invasion of her legal rights... so that the statute must be held to attach when the plaintiff was first put on notice or had reason to believe that a right of action had accrued.

<u>Id.</u> at 309.

а

а

а

This case was followed by the Third District's decision in <u>Buck</u> <u>v. Mouradan</u>, 100 So.2d 70 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958) <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 104 So.2d 592 (Fla. 1958). Suit was instituted in December 26, 1956. Discovery showed that as a result of the 1951 x-ray treatments the plaintiff experienced some skin burns, blushing and erythema in and about her abdomen. The plaintiff admitted that she experienced the skin condition and that she discussed it with the appellee, who advised

- 11 -

her that it was the result of the x-ray treatments but that he did not know why her skin had burned. In 1955, she allegedly learned through diagnosis of other doctors the extent of her injuries occasioned by the x-ray burns in 1951. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the defendant based upon the applicable four-year statute of limitations.

The court noted that the general rule is that:

When there has been notice of the invasion of a legal right <u>or</u> a person has been put on notice of his right to a cause of action, the statute of limitations begins to run.

Id. The court noted, however, that in a malpractice action, the application of this rule becomes difficult where the injured person is:

Prevented from knowing of his injury due to the concealment of the fact of his injury by the treating physician. In such cases, there is a well-recognized exception which tolls the running of the statute when it could be shown that fraud has been perpetrated upon the injured party sufficient to place him in ignorance of his right to a cause of action, or to prevent him from discovering such injury.

# Id.1

In applying these rules, however, the Third District found that the plaintiff was aware of her injuries in **1951** shortly after the treatment. Although she complained that the defendant fraudulently concealed his negligence and the true extent of the resulting injury, the court stated:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although not specifically stated, the court seemed to hold that the discovery of injury was the same as notice of the invasion of a legal right embodied in the general rule.

Nowhere have we been able to find that she was without knowledge of her injury at the time, or shortlythereafterofthe administration of the x-raytreatments. On the contrary, her admission established her knowledge.

Accordingly, the Third District affirmed the trial court's ruling dismissing the action based upon the statute of limitations.

# 2. <u>The Nardone Decisions</u>

In 1972, Nicholas Nardone, individually and on behalf of his minor son brought a medical malpractice action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. The District Court held that the action, which was filed more than five years after the minor child's discharge from Jackson Memorial Hospital was barred under the four-year Florida Statute of Limitations, §95.11(4). This judgment was appealed to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal. Nardone <u>v. Revnolds</u>, 508 F.2d 660, 661 (5th Cir. 1975).

After discussing the facts the case, the Fifth Circuit noted:

In Floridathe 'discovery rule' governsthe time when the statute of limitations begins to run in medical malpractice cases. At the risk of over-simplification, the rule, as developed through judicial decision provides that the statute of limitations shall commencewhen either one of two conditions precedent occur: (i) the plaintiff hasnoticeofthenegligent act giving rise to a cause of action, or (ii) the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act. At the bottom the problem are the two cases of <u>Brooks</u> and <u>Buck</u> or more accurately, the reading to be given to what the Florida courts have said in those two opinions.

# Id. at 661-62.

The plaintiff in <u>Nardone</u> contended that the reference to "injury" and invasion of a legal right meant an awareness by the victim or

- 13 -

derivative beneficiary not only of the existing physical condition but also an awareness of facts that would lead a reasonable person to believe that the injury was due to the acts or non-acts of the defendants.<sup>2</sup>

On the other hand, the defendants insisted that the word injury denoted the plaintiff's physical condition (effect) as distinguished from the alleged act of negligence or legal injury (cause). They asserted that critical fact is the victim's or the derivative beneficiaries' awareness of the physical condition without regard to whether they know that this is a result of a natural phenomena or the acts or non-acts of the defendants.

Given this dichotomy of argument, and the court's inability to discern the applicable Florida law, the court certified four question to this Court related to the application of Section 95.11, Florida Statutes. In the sections that follow, each of these questions will be discussed and this Court's determination on those issues will be applied to the facts in the instant matter in order to show that the trial court was correct that the instant action is barred as a matter of law and the Third District's finding that a fact question existed is a misapplication of this Court's Nardone decision.

i, <u>Commencement of the Period of Limitation</u>

In <u>Nardone</u> the Fifth Circuit certified the following question to this Court:

а

а

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The plaintiffs insisted and the courtagreedthat, although they knew the unfortunate result, they had no actual knowledge prior to 1969 of what brought it about.

'I. In a medical malpractice case does the period of limitation (F.S.A. 95.11(4)) commence:

(a) As to the parents and legal guardians of the incompetent minor in their own right

(b) As to the parents and legal guardians of the incompetent minor as next friends in behalf of the minor

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