IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KJELL KOCH, M.D., THE UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI and LEDERLE LABORATORIES,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO. 74,835

ADAM BOGORFF, minor, by his father and next Friend, ROBERT BOGORFF, and ROBERT BOGORFF, individually,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN BERANEK Florida Bar No. 005419 Aurell, Radey, Hinkle & Thomas 101 North Monroe Street Suite 1000 Post Office Drawer 11307 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 904/681-7766

and

JON E. KRUPNICK
Krupnick, Campbell, Malone
& Roselli, P.A.
700 S. E. Third Avenue
Suite 100
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that issues of fact required reversal of the summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations in this medical malpractice case. Factual issues existed as to fraudulent concealment by the physician who actually treated the child and factual issues existed as to when the parents should have become aware of ${f a}$ distinct injury triggering the accrual of the cause of action. Unfortunately, the child already had leukemia and then became the victim of apparent irreversible encephalopathy. Dr. Koch continually maintained that the encephalopathy condition was the result of the leukemia rather than the result of his treatment in the form of radiation and intrathecal methotrexate. This misrepresentation went on for many years. The parents were not on constructive notice of everything of a technical nature in the medical records. Additionally, the doctors' fraudulent concealment as to the contents of those records makes the rule regarding notice inapplicable. Further, the records were unavailable from the hospital and the medical reports actually received by the parents were extremely misleading and false.

The District Court applied the correct four-year statute of limitations. This case predates any of the amendments to the statute of limitations which specifically recognized medical malpractice and treat it differently than other forms of negligence. There is no statute of repose applicable to this

– a –

case because no repose provision was present in the applicable statute.

The opinion by the Third District Court of Appeal is correct and review should be denied. The matter should proceed to trial on the factual issues concerning the statute of limitations and malpractice.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN (1) APPLYING THE FOUR-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS CONTAINED IN §95.11(4), FLORIDA STATUTES (1971), TO THE NEGLIGENCE WHICH OCCURRED BEFORE JULY OF 1972 AND (2) IN FINDING THAT ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED CONCERNING (a) FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT BY THE DOCTORS AND (b) WHEN THE PARENTS SHOULD HAVE BECOME AWARE OF THE ACCRUAL OF A CAUSE OF ACTION.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN (1) APPLYING THE FOUR-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS CONTAINED IN §95,11(4), FLORIDA (1971), TO STATUTES THE NEGLIGENCE WHICH OCCURRED BEFORE JULY OF 1972 AND (2) TN FINDING THAT ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED CONCERNING (a) FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT BY THE DOCTORS AND (b) WHEN THE PARENTS SHOULD HAVE BECOME AWARE OF THE ACCRUAL OF A CAUSE OF ACTION.

The Pre-1972 Limitations Period

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly held that the statute of limitations applicable to this case was §95.11(4), Florida Statutes (1971). This was the statute of limitations which predated the independent recognition of medical malpractice as a very specialized cause of action. The statute simply provided a four-year limitations period. There is no statute of repose included within this statute of limitations.

The medical malpractice statute of limitations has been the subject of numerous amendments. A simplified chart of its progression is as follows:

> \$95.11(4) - four year statute of limitations and no statute of repose. Effective from 1943 through July 1, 1972.

> §95.11(6) - two year statute of limitations and no statute of repose. Effective July 1, 1972, Chapter 71-254. Foley v. Morris holds no retroactive application.

> **§95.11(4)(b)** - two year statute of limitations and no statute of repose. Effective January 1, 1975, Chapter 74-382.

> **§95.11(4)(b)** - two year statute of limitations and four year/seven year statute of repose. Effective May 20, 1975, Chapter 75-9 Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975. <u>Dade County</u> <u>v. Ferro</u> holds no retroactive application.

The medical negligence here occurred late in 1971 and in January of 1972. At this point, the statute of limitations was §95.11(4), Florida Statutes (1971), which provided a four-year statute of limitations and no statute of repose. The four-year statute did not begin to run until the plaintiffs should have reasonably learned of the accrual of their cause of action. In a complex medical situation where the child had both leukemia and encephalopathy, the question of when the parents reasonably should have become aware that their already seriously ill child had been further traumatized and sustained a further distinct injury or illness is problematic to say the least.

The statute of limitations applicable here was the simple four-year statute in existence at the time of the negligence. Plaintiff became aware of their cause of action in 1982 and filed suit that year. This statute, §95.11(4), applies because <u>Foley v. Morris</u>, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976), and <u>Dade County v. Ferro</u>, 384 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1980), specifically So hold.

Both of these cases involved medical malpractice occurring in 1971 and both cases directly hold that 95.11(4) is the applicable statute. <u>Foley</u> also holds that the 1972 amendments to the statute of limitations are not applicable and <u>Ferro</u> holds that the 1975 amendments to the statute are not applicable. Under these two decisions by this Court, the applicable statute of limitations is 95.11(4), as it existed in 1971 providing for a four-year statute and no absolute statute of repose. The two later statutory amendments may not be retroactively applied.

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

The opposing briefs adopt a rather convoluted argument that <u>Foley</u> and <u>Ferro</u> have both been overruled by implication or that this Court should adopt a new attitude and overrule those cases in the present dispute. This dispute is indeed a very old medical malpractice case. It is old because of the conduct of the medical professionals involved who are guilty of aggravated conduct in concealing the true cause of this child's severe medical condition.

Petitioners argue that this Court's attitude has now changed regarding medical malpractice and the statute of repose. Petitioners contend the statute of repose in the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975 bars this claim. <u>Carr v. Broward</u> <u>County</u>, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989), is cited and relied upon. Neither <u>Carr</u> nor <u>Phelan v. Hanft</u>, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. **3d** DCA 1985), are applicable to this case and neither case requires application of the 1975 amendment to the statute.

The negligence in the Bogorff case occurred in January of 1972 and the negligence in the <u>Carr</u> case occurred in December of 1975. The negligence in <u>Phelan</u> occurred in August of 1976. The effective date of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975 was May 20, 1975. The Bogorff negligence occurred substantially prior to the effective date of this statute whereas the negligence in <u>Carr</u> and <u>Phelan</u> occurred <u>subsequent</u> to the effective date of this legislation. The 1975 Reform Act was the first time

- 13 -

that a statute of repose was created regarding medical negligence.

This Court's <u>Carr</u> opinion was based on the legislative finding of an "overpowering public necessity" and a medical malpractice insurance crisis of the "past few months." This was a <u>current</u> crisis. The medical negligence in both <u>Carr</u> and <u>Phelan</u> occurred after the effective date of the 1975 statute and within the crisis period. The Bogorff negligence occurred before the statute and not within the crisis period.

The amendments to the medical malpractice statute of limitations have been held not to have retroactive effect. See the <u>Ferro</u> decision, the <u>Foley</u> decision and <u>Hellinger v. Fike</u>, 503 So.2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), <u>rev. denied</u>, 508 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1987). The Third District Court of Appeal correctly applied the four-year statute of limitations which contains no statute of repose.

This Court's recent decision in <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 15 FLW S340 (Fla. June 14, 1990), pending on rehearing, does not require a different result. <u>Barron</u> holds that "the limitation period commences when the plaintiff should have known either of the injury or the negligent act." In <u>Barron</u>, the plaintiff entered the hospital for colon surgery and following surgery developed an infection. He eventually recovered from this but later his eyesight began to deteriorate and approximately four months later became blind. Suit was filed against the operating physician whose treatment of the patient had terminated approxi-

- 14 -

mately a month and a half after surgery. This Court held that the statute of limitations began to run at the point that the patient knew, without question, that he had sustained an injury. This date was held to be the date of blindness. Obviously, blindness is a completely distinct injury.

Adam Bogorff had, according to Dr. Koch, a life threatening and progressive disease in the form of infantile leukemia. The parents were told by Dr. Koch that the child's ever-worsening physical condition was merely the result of the progression of his leukemia. Under these facts, the parents were not aware of either **a** distinct injury or the negligent act which produced it. In short, they were told that their child had not been further injured or traumatized. They were told that he merely had the same condition he had always had when in fact his ever-worsening physical state was attributable to the treatment rather than the disease for which he was being treated.

In <u>Barron</u>, it was obvious that blindness was not a result of stomach surgery. On the other hand, loss of hair is a common result in cancer radiation therapy cases. Dr. Koch said that Adam Bogorff's loss of hair and all of his other much worse symptoms were the result of the progression of his leukemia condition. Thus, the parents did not and should not have recognized these conditions as an "injury" so as to begin the running of the period of limitation.

This case is governed by Section 95.11(4), Florida Statutes, as it existed prior to 1972. This Court's <u>Barron</u>

- 15 -

opinion construes the statute as subsequently amended.

This case is quite similar to <u>Moore v. Morris</u>, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985), which was reaffirmed in <u>Barron</u>. There a child was brain damaged at birth but the doctors gave assurances of the baby's good health. The mother was told specifically that the child had suffered no injury when it became necessary to cut open the child's chest to insert a breathing tube. This is exactly the situation presented here where the Bogorffs were told that their son suffered no damage as a result of the intrathecal methotrexate treatment.

The cause of action here accrued on the date of discovery or when the plaintiff should have discovered the cause of action under the circumstances. Factually, the date of discovery was in 1982 when the Zee report was finally seen by the plaintiffs. This report was intentionally not disclosed by the medical professionals (both the writer and the recipient) involved in the case.

This may well be the last medical malpractice case in existence which will be governed by the original unamended statute. The negligence here occurred in January of 1972 and is governed by the early statute.

Issues of Fact Re Fraudulent Concealment and Discovery of the Cause of Action

Relying upon <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, **333** So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), defendants argue that the plaintiffs are on notice of every single thing in the medical records and that these medical records absolutely proved that intrathecal methotrexate was the

- 16 -

cause of Adam Bogorff's serious medical condition. They argue that, if the parents had just obtained, read and understood all of the medical records, they would have known that it was -- not leukemia, not the spread of cancer to the brain and not a viral infection which caused their son's condition. These were the causes stated by Dr. Koch for a period of eight years. Defendants contend that notwithstanding these statements, the parents were on notice of everything in the medical records. Amazingly, the defendants then argue that as a matter of law Dr. Koch did nothing wrong and that it was merely a divergence of medical viewpoints or a situation of alternative medical opinions. On the one hand, defendants argue that Dr. Koch should be excused from failing to read and understand the medical reports he received but that the parents were on notice of those same medical reports and required to understand them as a matter of law.

The <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u> decision is clearly distinguishable from the facts presented here. In <u>Nardone</u>, the plaintiff was admitted to the hospital in January of 1956. A diagnostic procedure was performed in February and negligence in that procedure rendered the plaintiff comatose, blind and irreversibly brain damaged. The Nardones did not bring suit until May of 1971. Summary judgment was entered in favor of the defendants based on the statute of limitations. This court held on pages 35, 36 and 39 as follows:

> It is undisputed that defendants did not engage in conduct of any nature which had the

> > - 17 -

effect of hindering plaintiff from consulting other physicians, or the hospital records or from becoming aware of the facts so as to prevent them from bringing an action. <u>There</u> was no affirmative misrepresentation to the appellants as to the cause of the infant's condition.

Ι

l

1

₽

ł

ł

ł

I

ł

* * *

Sub judice, no fraudulent means to conceal were utilized by appellees, and so the question becomes whether non-disclosure by the alleged practitioners of possible causes of the infant's decerebrate condition constitutes concealment sufficient to toll the statute, and whether there was a duty to disclose the possible or likely causes where there was no request for such information.

* * *

Where an adverse condition is known to the doctor or readily available to him through efficient diagnosis, he has a duty to disclose and his failure to do so amounts to a fraudulent withholding of the facts sufficient to toll the running of the statute. (Emphasis supplied)

See also Schafer v. Lehrer, 476 So.2d 781, 783 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), where the court held:

Even if Dr. Lehrer did not affirmatively prevent his patient from obtaining her records, given the fiduciary nature of the doctor-patient relationship, the doctor's duty extends beyond nonconcealment. <u>See Nardone v.</u> Reynolds

As to the argument that the plaintiffs were on notice of everything in the medical records, it is surprising that none of the defendants deal with the rationale of the Third District's decision on this issue. The District Court did not avoid the issue -- it was specifically addressed. Five reasons were given for the Court's conclusion that notice of the medical records was not a proper basis for the summary judgment.

(1) The doctor misrepresented both the cause and the condition.

Here, the Bogorffs were not on constructive notice of everything in the medical records because the doctors fraudulently misrepresented the cause of the medical condition further misrepresented the actual state of the boy's and condition. Dr. Koch continually said that the condition was due to leukemia or some other cause such as an infection. He continued to treat Adam for leukemia and for his other conditions supposedly caused by the leukemia. Where there is such **a** fraudulent misrepresentation, the rule concerning notice of medical records is not applicable. At page 1226, the Third District stated as follows:

> A plaintiff who lacks actual knowledge is deemed to have constructive notice of a negligent act disclosed by the contents of obtainable hospital and medical records . . . However, when defendants fraudulently conceal or misrepresent their negligence, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until plaintiff is able to discover the negligence.

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